RECEIVED 11-09-2010

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Bostco LLC and Parisian, Inc.,

Plaintiffs-Appellants-Cross-Respondents,

Appeal Nos. 2007AP00221, 2007AP1440

Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District,

Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY CASE NO. 2003cv005040 THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. KREMERS AND JEAN W. **DIMOTTO PRESIDING**

COMBINED BRIEF OF APPELLANTS AND CROSS-RESPONDENTS BOSTCO LLC AND PARISIAN, INC.

ARGUMENT

I. BOSTON STORE SUFFERED SIGNIFICANT HARM AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Contrary to MMSD's suggestion, Boston Store is not arguing that any time a party suffers property damage it establishes a nuisance claim. Instead, Boston Store contends that the jury's finding that Boston Store suffered millions of dollars in damage constitutes *per se* "significant harm," R.403 p.2, A-Ap.586; *Jost v. Dairyland Power Coop.*, 45 Wis. 2d 164, 172 N.W.2d 647 (1969), and that this conclusion combined with the jury's other findings—that MMSD was negligent, that the manner in which MMSD maintains and operates the Deep Tunnel has interfered with Boston Store's use and enjoyment of its property and that the interference is abatable, R.403 p.3, A-Ap.587, gives rise to liability for a continuing nuisance. The sole question before this Court is whether Boston Store suffered significant

harm as a matter of law. MMSD has presented no compelling argument to the contrary.²

Because MMSD cannot find a successful way to distinguish the holding in *Jost*, MMSD has attempted to recategorize the issue as one it would rather argue.³ But, the jury did *not* find that Boston Store "never proved (or even pleaded) the 'particular type of injurious consequence,' that is the essence of a nuisance claim." MMSD Resp. Br. at 56. In fact, the jury found that the particular type of harm required for nuisance exists here—it found the manner in which MMSD has operated or maintained has interfered with Boston Store's use and enjoyment of its property. *See* R.403 p.3, A-Ap.587.

MMSD's assertion that Boston Store failed to prove an interference with the use and enjoyment of its property ignores the jury's finding on that very issue, which MMSD never challenged. Further, MMSD has provided no authority for its suggestion that Boston Store was required to prove a decrease in the market value of its building to satisfy the significant harm element. *See* MMSD Resp. Br. at 61-62. To the extent it can be read to refer to the meaning of "significant harm" element, the only case MMSD cites holds the opposite. *See Costas v. City of Fond du Lac*, 24 Wis. 2d 409, 414, 129 N.W.2d 217 (1964) ("Such injury is usually a material and unreasonable impairment of the right of enjoyment or the individual's right to the reasonable use of his property or the impairment of its value."). MMSD's attempt to confuse the two elements, interference and significant harm, exemplifies its attempt to evade the real issue presented.

³ MMSD inexplicably implies that because *Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District v. City of Milwaukee*, 2005 WI 8, 277 Wis. 2d 635, 691 N.W.2d 658 was decided after both *Jost* and *Krueger v. Mitchell*, 112 Wis. 2d 88, 332 N.W.2d 733 (1983), *Jost* and *Krueger* are limited or nullified by the holding in *City of Milwaukee*. *See* MMSD Resp. Br. at 62. The latter opinion did not discuss the significant harm element. *See* 277 Wis. 2d 635. The fact that it was decided after *Jost* and *Krueger* is irrelevant.

A. Damage To Property Is Recoverable Under Nuisance.

Property damages are a type of nuisance damage separate and distinct from damages for personal discomfort, annoyance, and inconvenience, but both types of damages are independently recoverable under a nuisance cause of action. *See Krueger v. Mitchell*, 112 Wis. 2d 88, 105-06, 332 N.W. 2d 733 (1983). Contrary to MMSD's uncited proposition that Boston Store had to prove "business interruption losses," *see* MMSD Resp. Br. at 65, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that:

it is inappropriate to decide whether a nuisance is actionable based on the type of damages alleged, *e.g.*, actual physical injuries or property damages as contrasted to annoyance, inconvenience or discomfort. Rather, the touchstone is whether the injuries are substantial.

Id. at 107-08.

Moreover, MMSD's suggestion that Boston Store cannot recover for property damage under a nuisance claim should be rejected because it specifically stipulated that the answer to the past damage question would stand as the damages for both negligence and nuisance:

THE COURT: ... [M]y understanding is the parties agree that I would not ask the jury to answer a separate set of damage questions with respect to the nuisance claim, that the answers on

the damage questions to the negligence claim would stand as the answers to the nuisance claim...

MR. LYONS: That's right.

See R. 392 pp. 16-17, 210, A-Ap.1049, 1098. ⁴ MMSD cannot now argue that Boston Store did not prove nuisance damages or that none of the damages can be tied to the nuisance.

B. The Harm Suffered By Boston Store Is Significant As A Matter Of Law.

In Wisconsin, tangible injury to property is recoverable under nuisance law and as particularly relevant here, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has explained:

Substantial injury is defined as 'tangible' injury, or as a 'discomfort perceptible to the senses of ordinary people.' ...

Here the damage was to tangible property. The damage was apparent and undisputed....We conclude that the injury was substantial as a matter of law, since ... the injury was obvious injury to tangible property. Moreover, it was, in fact, of such a nature that the jury placed more than a nominal value upon the injury done.

Jost, 45 Wis. 2d at 172 (emphasis added) (citations omitted). The nuisance harm here has ultimately manifested itself as property damage, much like the harm in *Jost*. 45 Wis. 2d 164. The Josts were not required to plead or prove that their house was uninhabitable at some point before succeeding. *Id*.

5

⁴ Boston Store submitted a proposed special verdict with separate damage questions for nuisance and negligence. *See* R.247 pp.2, 4, A-Ap. 552, 554.

In contrast to the holding in *Jost*, MMSD suggests that Boston Store would have had to essentially "shut its doors" to prove significant harm. MMSD Resp. Br. at 65. There is no support in Wisconsin's case law for such a proposition and the notion that ongoing damage to a building's foundation is not significant harm is not rational. The record here establishes that the jury heard considerable testimony explaining how, and found that, MMSD's negligent actions caused dewatering of the ground, triggering pile rot and downdrag, eliminating the foundation's ability to support the building, resulting in millions of dollars of property damage. Boston Store Br. at 12-19.

Attempting to confuse the issue by evasion is non-responsive.

Boston Store suffered significant harm as a matter of law; this Court should reverse the trial court and change the jury's answer to Question No. 10.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY REDUCED THE JURY'S \$6.3 MILLION DAMAGE AWARD TO \$100,000.

The trial court erred in reducing Boston Store's recoverable damages under Wis. Stat. § 893.80(3) to less than one percent⁵ of the

6

 $^{^{5}}$ This 1% figure is based on a \$6 million award.

damages the jury found were caused by MMSD's negligent conduct. There are four independent reasons why § 893.80(3) should not limit recoverable damages in this case: (1) the \$50,000 cap is unconstitutional on its face; (2) it is unconstitutional as applied; (3) MMSD waived the cap and should be estopped from invoking it; and (4) the cap does not apply to continuing nuisances.

A. Section 893.80(3) Violates Equal Protection on its Face.

MMSD does not dispute that that under § 893.80(3), governmental tort victims who suffer over \$50,000 in damages are treated differently than those who suffer less or that § 893.80(3) is subject to "rational basis with teeth" standard of review.

Under rational review with teeth, a court "need not, and should not, blindly accept the claims of the legislature" but must instead conduct an independent inquiry to determine whether the unequal treatment of citizens is "relevant to the purpose of motivating the classification." *Ferdon v. Wisconsin Patients Comp. Fund*, 2005 WI 125, ¶¶ 72, 77, 284 Wis. 2d 573, 701 N.W.2d 440.

Municipal damage caps serve the legitimate governmental interest of preventing disruptions in local government functions that

unlimited liability may threaten. *See Sambs v. City of Brookfield*, 97 Wis. 2d 356, 377, 293 N.W.2d 504 (1980). The first issue is whether the *specific* cap set forth in § 893.80(3) furthers the government's interest in preventing disruptions in local government functions. *Ferdon*, 284 Wis. 2d 573, ¶¶ 77-78. Second, this Court must determine whether the cap "is harsh and unreasonable, that is, if the limitation is too low when considered in relation to the damages sustained." *Ferdon*, 284 Wis. 2d 573, ¶ 111. This second inquiry is required because the legislature must balance the need for fiscal security against the ideal of equal justice. *See Stanhope v. Brown County*, 90 Wis. 2d 823, 843, 280 N.W.2d 711 (1979).

As explained in Boston Store's initial brief, the damage cap does not meet either standard. The legislative history of § 893.80(3) gives no indication of the justification for the \$50,000 figure when it was adopted in 1981, and whatever justification there may have been in 1981 cannot continue to justify this figure three decades later.⁶ Its

⁶ MMSD suggests that the outcome of *Sambs*, wherein the Supreme Court upheld municipal damage caps, must be the outcome in this case, notwithstanding the passage of thirty years, in light of the holding in *Zarder v. Humana Ins. Co.*, 2010 WI 35, ¶ 58, 324 Wis. 2d 325, 782 N.W.2d 682. *Zardener* reconfirms the uncontroversial proposition that the Court of Appeals may not overrule the Supreme Court. As *Sambs* specifically invites revisitation and contemplates the

application is harsh and unreasonable as it limits Boston Store's recovery to less than 1% of the damages the jury found MMSD negligently caused.

In response to Boston Store's constitutional challenge to § 893.80(3), MMSD advances three unavailing arguments. MMSD's first argument can and should be rejected summarily: Boston Store has never argued that the legislature cannot enact a municipal damage cap. But the fact that the legislature may enact a cap of some sort does not inoculate the cap amount from constitutional review. See generally Ferdon, 284 Wis. 2d 573; Sambs, 97 Wis. 2d 356.

MMSD's second argument—that the constitutional review begins and ends with the identification of a legitimate governmental interest—is not legally accurate. "[F]or judicial review under rational basis to have any meaning, there must be ... a thoughtful examination of not only the legislative purpose, but also the relationship between the legislation and the purpose." Ferdon, 284 Wis. 2d 573, \P 77.

possibility of a different outcome in a future case, Sambs, 97 Wis. 2d at 368, the Court need not overrule it to find the cap unconstitutional today.

⁷ MMSD argues that statements by the supreme court acknowledging that any cap amount will inevitably involve some degree of arbitrariness strips the judiciary of its ability to review the constitutionality of a specific cap amount. While the supreme court has acknowledged that any cap amount must involve an element of

MMSD attempts to distinguish *Ferdon*, arguing that:

Ferdon involved the Legislature's effort to limit damages that would have otherwise been available in a common law tort suit. By contrast, this case, like *Sambs*, involves the Legislature's authorization of a limited monetary claim against a governmental entity when, at common law, as *Ferdon* explains, Owners would have been entitled to no recovery at all.

MMSD Resp. Br. at 31.8 But the supreme court abrogated municipal sovereign immunity in 1967 and without § 893.80, MMSD would be subject to full liability; if this was not the case, MMSD would have no motive in defending its constitutionality.

MMSD also argues that in determining whether \$50,000 is unconstitutionally low, the comparison figure should be \$0 instead of damages suffered. MMSD Resp. Br. at 32. But "a statutory limit on tort recoveries may violate equal protection guarantees if ... the limitation is too low *when considered in relation to the damages* sustained." Ferdon, 284 Wis. 2d 573, ¶ 111 (emphasis added).

arbitrariness, it has made clear that this does *not* strip the judiciary of its obligation to insure that the limitation is not "too low when considered in relation to the damages sustained." *Ferdon*, 284 Wis. 2d 573, ¶ 111.

⁸ MMSD goes on to argue that in paragraph 180 of the *Ferdon* opinion, the Court tacitly overruled the holding in *Sambs* that the *amount* of the municipal damage cap is subject to judicial review. MMSD Resp. Brief at 31. Paragraph 180 simply recites that the government has a legitimate interest in municipal damage caps, an uncontested proposition. This does not answer the question presented in this case: whether the \$50,000 amount remains constitutional today. Although courts do not have the power to determine what a new cap amount should be, *Sambs* holds, and nothing in *Ferdon* overrules, that courts have not only the right, but a duty to strike down caps when they do not meet constitutional minimums.

MMSD's final argument, that there is no hardship or injustice in requiring Boston Store to pay for the damages MMSD caused, is inconsistent with supreme court precedent rejecting the notion that shifting the costs of government negligence to a few victims rather than to the public at large is a legitimate governmental interest.

Holytz v. City of Milwaukee, 17 Wis. 2d 26, 115 N.W.2d 618 (1962).

Caps do not alleviate the burden of governmental negligence on the public but rather shift those costs unevenly and arbitrarily. MMSD's argument that Boston Store is a worthy victim has no place in a facial constitutional analysis.

B. Section 893.80(3) Would Violate Equal Protection if Applied in this Case.

Even if the damage cap was facially constitutional, its application in this case would violate equal protection. Equal protection is denied when a public body selectively enforces a law in

.

11

⁹ MMSD wrongly asserts that Boston Store has argued that *Holytz* stands for the proposition that the government has *no* legitimate interest in limiting municipal immunity and that the legislature's enactment of § 893.80 legislatively reversed the *Holytz* holding. First, the enactment of § 893.80 was intended as a *codification* of *Holytz*. *MMSD v. Milwaukee*, 2005 WI 8, ¶53, 277 Wis. 2d 635, 691 N.W.2d 658. In any event, the legislature has no role in determining what constitutes a "legitimate" governmental interest for constitutional purposes. The legislature can no more pronounce arbitrary victimization to be a "legitimate governmental interest" than it could pronounce racial discrimination to be a "legitimate governmental interest."

a manner that is intentional, systemic and arbitrary. *State ex rel*. *Murphy v. Voss*, 34 Wis. 2d 501, 510, 149 N.W.2d 595 (1967). MMSD waived the cap with respect to building owners who discovered and reported their damage prior to June 30, 2004 but invoked it against owners who discovered damage thereafter.

On appeal, MMSD argues that it waived the cap with respect to the earlier payments because Traylor Brothers, the construction company, had a contractual right to seek compensation from MMSD if *it* incurred unforeseen costs resulting from differing site conditions. MMSD Resp. Br. at 39. This argument might be more convincing if the dates matched up: Traylor Brothers was required to submit the full amount it was claiming within thirty days after MMSD's determination of a differing site condition. R.124 p.108. June 30, 1994 was years after Traylor Brothers' contractual rights expired. 10

MMSD also argues that time is not arbitrary because it is a basis for denying relief under statutes of limitation. MMSD Resp. Br. at 40. But the statutes of limitations applicable to Boston Store's

-

12

¹⁰ MMSD contends Boston Store's as-applied challenge threatens its ability to deal with settlement on a case-by-case basis. Had MMSD actually been approaching the issue on a case-by-case basis, Boston Store would not have an as applied equal protection challenge. The MMSD representative charged with administering payments testified that the decision was not made on a case-by-case basis and that is the problem. *See, e.g.*, R.272 p.7-11, A-Ap.695-99.

claims are legislatively set and MMSD does not have the authority to move them or abrogate the discovery rule. Moreover, MMSD's policy is not analogous to a statute of limitations, which because of the discovery rule, punish only those who knowingly sit on their rights.

Alternately, MMSD suggests that unequal treatment was justified because Boston Store had a deep pile foundation while the other property owners had shallow foundations. MMSD neither explains why that distinction is material, nor disputes that this is not actually the reason for the differential treatment. *See* R.189 pp.95-96, A-Ap.1370-71 (if Boston Store had submitted its damage claim on or before June of 1994, MMSD would have accepted full responsibility).

C. Waiver and Estoppel.

The application of § 893.80(3) is barred by both waiver and estoppel. At a May 2, 2005 hearing, MMSD's counsel explicitly stated in successfully opposing discovery relevant to injunctive relief that "if the plaintiffs win, they will be *made whole* based on their damage claim alone ... [t]hey can have *complete and whole relief* based on what they have already alleged in this case." R.371 pp.4, 9, 19, 24 A-Ap.182, 187, 197, 202.

MMSD relies on the fact that MMSD's counsel later, after prevailing on the argument, announced that he "[did not] want to waive" any legal defenses. See R.371 p.31, A-Ap.209. MMSD's statement does not constitute a retraction. Instead of conceding that Boston Store would not be able to recover all of its damages—such that MMSD had no basis for opposing the discovery sought—MMSD simply announced that it did not wish to be bound by its statements. MMSD next argues that its statement is not a valid waiver under the holding of Anderson v. City of Milwaukee, 208 Wis. 2d 18, 33-34, 559 N.W.2d 563 (1997). This argument is unavailing for the reasons set forth on page 55, footnote 35, of Boston Store's brief-in-chief.

Finally, MMSD should be estopped from taking a position now contrary to their position during litigation.¹¹ Under judicial estoppel, a party who convinces a court to adopt a particular position is not permitted to argue the contrary unless there has been a material change in facts. *State v. Johnson*, 2001 WI App 105, ¶ 10, 244 Wis. 2d 164, 628 N.W.2d 431. MMSD argues that it has not made inconsistent statements. But it is unclear how MMSD's statement that

¹¹ MMSD asserts that Boston Store did not raise estoppel with the trial court. MMSD is mistaken. *See* R.280 p.4, MMSDApp-2056.

"[i]f the plaintiffs win, they will be made whole based on their damage claim alone" is consistent with its position here that Boston Store should not be made whole. As MMSD convinced the court that Boston Store would be made whole in damages and, therefore, that discovery should be limited, MMSD should be barred from arguing that Boston Store should not be able to recover fully. 13

D. Continuing Nuisances Are Not Limited by § 893.80(3).

Finally, the full damage award should be reinstated if this

Court concludes that Boston Store prevailed on its continuing

nuisance claim. Section 893.80(3) caps damage at \$50,000 for "any

action founded on tort" and a continuing nuisance is a constantly

recurring "action." Stockstad v. Town of Rutland, 8 Wis. 2d 528, 534,

99 N.W.2d 813, 817 (1959) ("every continuance of a nuisance ...

_

15

¹² MMSD also advances the untenable position that what it actually meant by its statement "if the plaintiffs win" was win on its argument that the damage cap does not apply. This position cannot be reconciled with MMSD's statement shortly thereafter that Boston Store "can have complete and whole relief based on what they have already alleged." R.371 p.9, A-Ap.187.

¹³ MMSD suggests that estoppel should not apply because it was mistake by an unauthorized person. However, MMSD contemporaneously recognized its statement was inconsistent with the invocation of the cap but failed to correct the "misstatement." Moreover, the statement was made by MMSD's attorneys who are authorized to make binding legal representations.

gives rise to a new cause of action."), *superseded in irrelevant part by*Wis. Stat. § 88.87.

MMSD argues, relying on *Wilmot v. Racine County*, 136 Wis. 2d 57, 400 N.W.2d 917 (1987), that while continuing nuisances may be recurring *causes of action* (i.e. claims), § 893.80(3) limits damages to \$50,000 per action. *Wilmot* uses the phrases action and causes of action interchangeably. And MMSD does not address the problem of serial causes of action. Its position would encourage successive filings; this cannot be the correct interpretation of the relationship between the caps and continuing nuisance claims.

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