RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONS-06-2010 DISTRICT I

Nos. 2007AP221 & 2007AP1440 F WISCONSIN

BOSTCO LLC and PARISIAN, INC., Plaintiffs-Appellants-Cross-Respondents,

VS.

MILWAUKEE METROPOLITAN SEWERAGE DISTRICT.

Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County No. 03-CV-005040 Hon. Jeffrey A. Kremers

(presiding through judgment on jury verdict) and Hon. Jean W. DiMotto

(presiding after judgment on jury verdict)

COMBINED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND CROSS-APPELLANT MILWAUKEE METROPOLITAN SEWERAGE DISTRICT

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

As to the specific monetary limitation on recovery we recognize that whatever figure is selected will be arbitrary in the sense that it is based on imponderables. This monetary limitation is one which the legislature determines balancing the ideal of equal justice and the need for fiscal security.

. . .

We cannot conclude in this case that the \$25,000 cut-off point adopted by the Wisconsin legislature in secs. 81.15 and 895.43 [now §893.80(3)] is arbitrary or unreasonable or violates state and federal constitutional guarantees.

Stanhope, 90 Wis. 2d at 843–44. This point was reiterated in Sambs: "[W]hatever the monetary limitation on recovery, the amount will seem arbitrary . . . the legislature, not the court, must select the figure." 97 Wis. 2d at 367.

Even if the judiciary had the authority to declare the \$50,000 limit "too low," Owners do not begin to make a case for its exercise. Ignoring the essential role played by the economic data considered by the Court in Ferdon, see, e.g., 284 Wis. 2d 440, ¶¶133–147, Owners do not present any evidence of the type a legislator would consider in deciding whether to increase the governmental tort damages limitation. For example, the Court has no information on the effect of a higher limitation on the various types of governmental entities covered by §893.80(3); it has no information on the frequency of tort claims against those governmental entities; no information on the extent to which the frequency of tort claims would increase if the §893.80(3) limitation were removed; no information on the types or frequency of claims that exceed the limitation amount; no information on the cost to insure against the greater exposure; and no information on the estimated amount of tax increases that would be necessary if some higher limitation were enacted, or the likely economic and political costs of those higher taxes. See Stanhope, 90 Wis. 2d at 844. Absent this information, it is impossible to determine whether increasing the

limitation would be sound public policy, much less what the extent of that increase should be. No court under these circumstances is equipped with anything close to the information needed to hold the limitation unconstitutional without directly contravening the holdings of *Sambs* and *Stanhope*.

Nor does consideration of the damages sustained, as Owners urge, Owners-Br. 49, provide grounds for diverging from Sambs and Stanhope. Unlike Sambs, Stanhope, and even Ferdon, all of which dealt with personal injury claims by individuals, Owners are sophisticated commercial businesses that allege only economic injuries repairable decay of their pile foundation for which the jury found them 30% responsible. That Owners should pay for needed repairs, rather than the District's taxpayers, works no obvious hardship or injustice. Owners' argument that the damages limitation shifts the cost of government negligence "to a small handful of victims, who cannot, standing alone, hold the negligent government official(s) accountable through ordinary political means, and away from the public at large, who can," Owners-Br. 50, is at best an inapposite distraction. Owners do not lack a political voice.

Bostco is a wholly-owned subsidiary of a utility holding company that presumably does not lack political influence. Indeed, as a result of its ability to secure a public development grant, Bostco acquired the Boston Store building without using its own funds. R.383-846–47:MMSDApp-0707–08; R.385-1127–28:MMSDApp-0752–53. No claim of inequity or disenfranchisement can support Owners' request that this Court ignore controlling precedent or Owners' suggestion that the constitution requires the judiciary to set aside the Legislature's governmental damages limitation in order to force the District's taxpayers to fund reconstruction of the Boston Store's foundation.

B. Wis. Stat. §893.80(3) is constitutional "as applied."

Owners argue that the District's reliance on \$893.80(3)'s damages limitation is unconstitutional "as applied" because the District settled earlier claims made by other property owners for amounts greater than \$50,000. This argument fails because (1) governmental conduct having any reasonable purpose survives the applicable rational basis review, see Nankin v. Vill. of Shorewood, 2001 WI 92, ¶11, 245 Wis. 2d 86, 630 N.W.2d 141; and (2) equal protection does not apply because Owners are

not "similarly situated" to the claimants from the mid-1990s and before. *See id*.

1. The District's decision to pay claims made close in time to the construction and for which the District would have been required to reimburse its contractor was reasonable.

The resolved claims to which Owners refer were claims that buildings were damaged as a result of the Tunnel's construction in the downtown area in the late 1980s. During that construction, the contractor, Traylor Brothers, experienced unexpected and substantial inflows from the shallower groundwater aquifers in the soils above the rock layers 200–300 feet below ground surface. R.123-3,5–6:MMSDApp-0106, 0108–09. This differing site condition encountered by the contractor during the construction was believed responsible for causing differential settlement and structural duress to buildings "without deep foundations and certain older buildings supported by relatively short timber piles." R.51-25:A-Ap.1364. The District installed recharge wells, and, by 1994, had concluded that "[g]roundwater aguifers have stabilized," "[s]tructural settlements have stopped," and that "[i]t is not expected that

damages will occur beyond those currently being evaluated." R.51-26:A-Ap.1365.

Under Traylor Brothers' contract with the District to construct the Tunnel, Traylor Brothers was entitled to modify the contract and obtain additional compensation from the District if it incurred unforeseen costs as a result of differing site conditions. R.388-2027:MMSDApp-0788. Such an arrangement is standard in the construction industry. See, e.g., Metro. Sewerage Comm'n v. R.W. Constr., Inc., 72 Wis. 2d 365, 241 N.W.2d 371 (1976). Rather than have Traylor Brothers resolve those claims and pass on to the District the cost of repairing the damage, plus the expense of administering the claims, and a reasonable markup, the District undertook to investigate and pay these claims itself—in effect standing in the shoes of its contractor.

These payments thus did not resolve tort claims against the District; the District compensated building owners for settlement damages in the 1990s in order to avoid having to pay a greater amount under its contract with Traylor Brothers. This reasonable course of action also allowed the District to maintain favorable

relations with the building owners whose claims, after investigation, appeared to have been plausibly caused by the construction problems. These claims were substantially resolved by 1994, and the District's contractual obligation to pay Traylor Brothers ended around the same time.

By contrast, in 2001 when Saks and WISPARK first raised the damages claim at issue in this litigation, the District's contract with Traylor Brothers had concluded and the District was not responsible for additional payments under that contract. By that time, any claim relating to the Boston Store building was necessarily a claim directly against the District, which it handled in the ordinary course, including defending the claim in part based on the damages limitation in \$893.80(3). Far from violating equal protection, the statutory limitation would be applied similarly to all other direct claims.

Owners' argument that it is arbitrary and therefore unconstitutional to deny their claim based on when it was asserted is a non-starter. Certainly, the District had far greater reason to believe credible claims of settlement damage asserted soon after the water inflows during

construction than it had to believe claims raised a decade after construction had been completed. To accept Owners' time-is-arbitrary argument would strip all government actors of a statute of limitation defense: No court could constitutionally apply a statute of limitations without depriving the plaintiff "arbitrarily" of a claim. The absurdity of this conclusion requires the argument's rejection.

Even putting the actual events showing the reasonableness of the District's method aside, Owners' "as applied" constitutional challenge is an invitation for the Court to judge a government entity's settlement strategies on a case-by-case basis. No case Owners cite, and no case of which the District is aware, suggests that this is properly the role of the judiciary. *Cf. Anderson*, 208 Wis. 2d at 30–32 (refusing to allow court-found implied waivers of governmental tort damages limitation).

2. Equal protection cannot be violated by application of §893.80(3) because Owners and earlier claimants are not "similarly situated."

Even if an "as applied" equal protection challenge authorized a court to compare the similarity of claims and settlement amounts, such an undertaking would not aid Owners. "A party

challenging a statute on equal protection grounds must 'demonstrate that the state unconstitutionally treats members of similarly situated classes differently," *In re Nelson*, 2007 WI App. 2, ¶19, 298 Wis. 2d 453, 727 N.W.2d 364 (Ct. App. (2006) (quoting *State v. Post*, 197 Wis. 2d 279, 318, 541 N.W.2d 115 (1995)), and Owners have not demonstrated that they were "similarly situated" to the claimants who settled for more than \$50,000.

Nor could Owners so prove. Owners made their claim several years after the Tunnel was constructed and claimed damage to century-old foundation piles resulting from migrating groundwater. The paid claims to which Owners compare their deep pile foundation claim involved shallow piles and façade and surface damages.

R.122-4:MMSDApp-0103. These distinctions are more than adequate to provide a rational basis for treating the claims differently, thus satisfying any "as applied" equal protection challenge.

C. The District did not waive the \$893.80(3) damages limitation nor does judicial estoppel preclude its application.

Owners next contend that the District waived the caps or—using the same argument relabeled—

is judicially estopped from relying on them. They base this argument solely on an exchange made in the context of a May 2, 2005 hearing (R.371-4, 9:MMSDApp-0472, 0477), which took place after the District filed its answer to the amended complaint again pleading the \$893.80(3) damages limitation. R.75-29:A-Ap.159. This exchange, however, cannot be a waiver. First, any waiver of the damages limitation must be made expressly. Second, even if an implied waiver was possible, the exchange on which Owners rely could not constitute an implied waiver.

1. The damages limitation was not waived.

Our Supreme Court "has repeatedly held that the [governmental] damage limitation can be waived only if the legislative purposes of §893.80(3) are met, and a public entity expressly waives the damage limitation." *Anderson*, 208 Wis. 2d at 32. Waiver in this context is "a 'voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right.' Intent to waive is regarded as an essential element of waiver." *Gonzalez v. City of Franklin*, 137 Wis. 2d 109, 128, 403 N.W.2d 747 (1987) (citations omitted). *Gonzalez* held that a city did not implicitly waive damages caps by purchasing

insurance coverage in excess of the cap amount, reasoning that *Sambs requires* "express policy language indicating that a waiver was intended." *Id.* at 131. The statements on which Owners rely do not meet this standard.

Owners cite no authority, and the District is aware of none, that has deemed municipal immunity waivable by implication. On the contrary, the Court has repeatedly emphasized the opposite. In *Anderson*, for example, the Court ruled that Milwaukee had not waived §893.80(3)'s damage limitation even though the City had neither pleaded nor raised the issue at any time before or after the jury verdict. 208 Wis. 2d at 33–34. Since the District pleaded the §893.80(3) limitation and never expressly waived it, Owners' waiver argument fails.

a. The exchange at the May 2, 2005 hearing was no waiver of the cap.

At issue on May 2 was whether Owners should be entitled to name a tunnel construction expert, whose opinions appeared to be either irrelevant or redundant. R.371-1–40:MMSDApp-0469–0508. The District argued that the expert was unnecessary because Owners had already

named a damages expert and, if they recovered the damages they sought, reconstruction of the tunnel was unnecessary. R.371-3–4:MMSDApp-0471–72.

Owners' characterization of this argument as a waiver of the damages limitation is untenable. Counsel's argument—that "if plaintiffs win, they will be made whole based on their damages claim," R.371-4:MMSDApp-0472, and "[t]hey can have complete and whole relief based on what they have already alleged," R.371-9:MMSDApp-0477 (emphasis added)—plainly did not constitute an express waiver of the §893.80(3) limitation. The statutory limitation was not mentioned. Because only an express waiver of §893.80(3) can be effective, see Anderson, 208 Wis. 2d 18, Owners' implied waiver argument is without merit.

In fact, the District's counsel expressly said it was *not* waiving its legal defenses. R.371-31–32:MMSDApp-0499–0500. Because the Court's inquiries at the hearing were premised on the fact that Owners were seeking damages rather than injunctive relief, the District's counsel made clear that he was not waiving the District's legal defenses in addressing the Court's hypothetical scenarios:

in addition to the other caus[ation] defenses I mentioned to you a moment ago, we have legal defenses that we will raise, which we don't want to waive here in discussing what would happen if [plaintiffs] were able to prove the facts you suggested. . . . I don't want to suggest to you by participating in the colloquy as I am, as any of us are, that we are waiving certain legal aspects.

R.371-31-32:MMSDApp-0499-0500. The Court expressly allowed the reservation, stating: "I understand. I'm not suggesting that you are [waiving defenses]." R.371-32:MMSDApp-0500. When Owners' counsel later suggested that the District had "stipulated" to an issue in the course of the argument, the Court made clear that nothing said in the colloguy would be treated as preclusive, stating in response to the District's counsel's clarification that he had not stipulated: "I know you didn't. I didn't see the word stipulation. Unless it is signed by you or agreed by you, there are no stipulations." R.371-39:MMSDApp-0507. See Robinson v. McNeil Consumer Healthcare, No. 09-4011, --- F.3d ----, 2010 WL 3156548, at *10 (7th Cir. Aug. 11, 2010) ("in order to qualify as judicial admissions, an attorney's statements must be deliberate, clear and unambiguous").

b. No waiver can here be enforceable because it would not satisfy the statutory purpose.

Even if counsel had made an express statement that the District was not relying on the statutory limitation, it would not be an enforceable waiver because, under the circumstances here, it would not "satisfy the purposes of this statute—protecting the public treasury and allowing for fiscal planning." *Anderson*, 208 Wis. 2d at 34. The Supreme Court has only upheld \$893.80(3) waivers when the municipality purchased insurance coverage that expressly provides that the insurance company will not invoke the damages limitation and has sufficiently high limits to protect the municipal treasury. *See id.* at 30; *compare Sambs*, 66 Wis. 2d at 315; and *Gonzalez*, 137 Wis. 2d at 128-29, with *Stanhope*, 90 Wis. 2d at 846-47.

c. The circuit court expressly found no waiver.

In any event, in ruling on motions after verdict, the circuit court expressly rejected Owners' waiver argument by finding that the District had not waived reliance on the \$893.80(3) limitation, stating: "I find no waiver of the caps." R.394-

45:MMSDApp-0854. In the absence of a compelling reason to disregard this finding, which Owners do not, and cannot, present, this Court should adhere to the circuit court's conclusion.

2. Equitable estoppel is inapplicable.

Owners also contend that the same conduct on which they base their waiver argument constitutes judicial estoppel. The argument is no better in different clothing. *Cf. In re C.L.F.*, 2007 WI App 6, ¶17, 298 Wis. 2d 333, 727 N.W.2d 334 (2006) (treating judicial estoppel rule like waiver rule because both are rules of judicial administration). First, Owners did not raise estoppel below; thus, it is waived. *Kolupar v. Wilde Pontiac Cadillac, Inc.*, 2007 WI 98, ¶23, 303 Wis. 2d 258, 735 N.W.2d 93.

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